
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Operational Services 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill Street 
DA12 1AU on Tuesday, 16 November 2021 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the 
following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 12)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Taxi Tariff (Pages 13 - 20)

6. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (Pages 21 - 30)

7. Street Champions and Great British Spring Clean Update (Pages 31 - 42)

8. Corporate Performance Report: Q2 2021-22 (Pages 43 - 52)

9. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency. 



10.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B 

Items likely to be considered in private 

None. 

Members

Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair)
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Gurdip Ram Bungar
Gary Harding
Nirmal Khabra
Leslie Pearton
Alan Ridgers
Brian Sangha
Frank Wardle

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Wednesday, 22 September 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair)
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:
Gary Harding
Nirmal Khabra
Leslie Pearton
Alan Ridgers
Brian Sangha
Frank Wardle
Jordan Meade
Lyn Milner

Stuart Alford Assistant Director (Operations)
Elizabeth Thornton Service Manager (Property & Regulatory Services)
Mark Lees Regulatory Services Manager
Mandy Francis Licensing Manager
Joel Simons Waste Projects & Compliance Officer
Jackie Denton Customer Services Manager (Minutes)

7. Apologies for Absence 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Conrad Broadley and Cllr Jordan Meade 
attended as his substitute. An apology for absence was received from Cllr Gurdip Ram 
Bungar and Cllr Lyn Milner attended as his substitute.

8. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 8 June 2021 were signed by the Vice-Chair.

9. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Nirmal Khabra declared an interest in Item 6 Taxi Tariff as he is a taxi driver.

10. Operational Services Update 

The Assistant Director (Operations) provided the Committee with an update on Operational 
Services projects and performance. The Chair asked that the report be broken down into 
sections and Committee could ask questions after each section.

All the teams have continued to provide services throughout the Covid-19 pandemic 
including refuse and recycling, tending to parks and open spaces, burial services and 
maintaining council fleet.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 22.09.2021

2

Street Cleansing
Parks & Shopping Parades Litter Bin Replacement Programme: Roll-out of the recycling 
‘on-the-go’ bins starting at Riverside Leisure Area and Woodlands Park. Together with St 
Andrews Gardens and Camer Park we will achieve a 168% increase in litter capacity. Litter 
housings for bulk bins have also been installed to increase capacity. The bins are covered in 
pictures of landmarks to promote the borough. In conjunction with increased bin capacity, 
enhanced emptying and litter picking at weekends there has been an improvement in litter 
management across our open spaces.

Binfrastructure Grant Funding: Following a grant of £13,180.40 towards our shopping 
parades litter bin replacement programme, shopfronts at 17 locations across the borough will 
receive new bins as part of the improvement programme. This will increase bin capacity and 
allow for recycling.

Parks and Town Centre Litter Campaign:  This had been delayed due to Covid-19 but 
bespoke signage has now been introduced into the town centre. It is very visual and 
hopefully will make people think more about how to dispose of their litter. Different 
campaigns will be used across the borough. There is also a campaign with a rural focus as 
well as a bespoke campaign for Perry Street and the Hive where littering is high e.g. – 
“Welcome to the Hive, help us keep your area clean and tidy”.

The Assistant Director (Operations) and Waste Projects & Compliance Officer 
responded to Members comments/questions: 

 There is a community spirit. We have a very good Street Champion programme and 
a lot of people are litter picking, cleaning up streets and working with us and this is 
across the borough

 The dog bins are already being looked at as some are rusty. We have moved to a 
new model. We are also looking at bins along main roads. We are only using certain 
types of litter bin across the borough. 

 168% is the total increased capacity over the four sites but against the base line all 
four sites are increased above 100%

 The shopping parade at Higham is challenging in the way it is laid out. We have 
worked closely over the last three years with Higham Parish Council to install litter 
bins where they are appropriate but we will look at installing some bins which also 
have a recycling element. We will take the comments on board and see what can be 
done

 In the more urban areas we will have mixed bins for litter and dog waste. People 
don’t like dog bins outside their houses but don’t mind litter bins. It isn’t cost effective 
having two bins next to each other so we are concentrating dog bins in the open 
spaces and the streets mainly have litter bins

 There are signs on the recycling bins stating that it is for cardboard, plastic bottles 
and paper. When the crew empty them they do look in them as we don’t want cross-
contamination. There has been some analysis over the last week in St Andrew’s 
Gardens where in the past half of the sacks were being rejected, now only 29% are 
being rejected. Once we have finished collecting data we will consider installing more 
signage. We are putting a new system in place where we will be able to record fill 
levels from individual bins which will indicate how these are being used and the 
success of the investment in them

 We are ensuring the signage on the bins is suitable for anyone with sight 
impairments

Page 4



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 22.09.2021

3

 The slot for the recycle bin housing is small so as to stop people putting black bags in 
them causing contamination

New 15 Tonne Scarab

Investment was made earlier this year on a new mechanical 15 tonne sweeper, double the 
size of the previous vehicle and is used on main routes and rural areas freeing up the 
smaller machine to do more frequent sweeping in the smaller streets. The new machine only 
has to tip-off once per day saving on fuel and increasing tonnage collected.

Deep Clean Machine

We continue to use the deep clean machine to remove chewing gum and grime from the 
pavements within the town centre and shopping parades.

The Assistant Director (Operations) responded to Members comments/questions: 

 We can have a look at deep cleaning in the Higham area but we do concentrate on 
high footfall areas such as the town centre as it is time-consuming 

 Over the last two to three months we have managed to increase frequency of 
sweeping and hopefully we can continue that moving forward. We have a raft of 
schedules depending on the road. If you live in New Road you will probably have the 
sweeper four times a day, seven days a week. Some areas need very little sweeping

 Deep cleaning machine is  used in the town more than other areas but we are 
working around shopping areas such as Perry Street even moving out to Meopham, 
Vigo and Higham

 The sweeper can cause tailbacks of traffic but we will have a look at plotting routes to 
avoid peak times

 Our main focus is to continue the refuse and recycling services on the days we say. 
A number of authorities have suspended garden waste and recycling but other than 
the disruption caused by the  snow earlier in the year we have managed to deliver 
that service. When staff have had to isolate we have prioritised waste and taken staff 
off street cleansing to assist. We are now starting to get all staff back and so we will 
increase sweeping in most parts of the borough

 With Covid there are still a lot of people working from home hence cars being parked 
on the roads so it makes it difficult to road sweep between them. Some people are 
reluctant to move their cars but hopefully as more people return to work that should 
help. With increased parking we do have issues accessing some roads with the 
dustcarts

 We are doing a trial next week on the Dickens Estate to ask people to move their 
cars to one side of the road then the other so we can sweep the road channels 
better.

Fly-Tipping

To date 60 Fixed Penalty Notices have been issued and one prosecution has taken place. 
We had success recently at Brookvale where 6 vehicles were removed with Police 
assistance. As an authority we won’t accept fly-tipping and we will take action against people 
who think fly-tipping is appropriate. We have regular joint meetings with Housing and the 
Enforcement Team and working much closer together on reporting.

Page 5



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 22.09.2021

4

Street Cleansing Improvements – Bartec Collective

We are introducing the Bartec system to the street cleansing service which will enable us to 
remove paper schedules and everyone will have a Tablet and once work is completed it is 
marked off. This will allow Managers to monitor work throughout the day and immediately 
allocate work to a crew rather than having to phone or put through a paper job ticket the next 
day. Customers will be able to receive real-time updates on work.

We are currently going through the process of mapping our litterbins. We want to have an 
“amazon service” whereby if someone reports something they will be able to get an update 
on what’s happening. 

Members’ made the following comments:

 The council’s biggest weakness is feedback to residents whether it’s planning 
enforcement, street cleaning etc. People report it but don’t know what happened as a 
result so Bartec will be progress. The Chair felt it would be useful to see Bartec in 
operation

 Delighted to see the amount of enforcement capacity around fly-tipping particularly 
when the tip was closed and we saw an increase in fly-tipping around the borough. 
Also pleased to see an increase in prosecutions

 Some authorities have brought in amnesty days for hotspots and residents can leave 
rubbish out and it will be collected free of charge. The Chair advised that it had 
successfully been done in Northfleet with local groups, the church and the scouts so 
it is something we should consider

 All Members would agree that the results we are seeing, particularly on enforcement, 
are second to none and credit should be given to our communication colleagues who 
have shown that councillors and the council are doing a lot of work in encouraging 
residents to report fly-tipping

The Assistant Director (Operations) responded to Members comments/questions: 

 The Enforcement Team sits under the CSU so we don’t have a figure on how many 
of the FPNs are paid but we can get this information

 There isn’t a backlog in bulky collections but an increase in demand. This month we 
have done an extra 80 collections as the crews have been working on Saturdays. 
Fridge freezers used to be 24 collections every two weeks, we are now doing 30 
collections three out of four weeks of the month. We are trying to get that down to a 
couple of weeks maximum but it is having willingness of the staff to work Saturdays

 We have had amnesty days in the past but we ended up with vans turning up with 
rubbish and it discriminates against those who are paying

 Licenses are easy to apply for and they are administered by the Environment 
Agency. We have jointly signed a letter with the Kent Resource Partnership to the 
Magistrates saying that the fines are not high enough and that has been co-signed by 
a lot of partnerships across the country. There is a lot of discussion about licenses 
and a lot of publicity about rogue traders. We are pushing this out through social 
media and the website link to the Environment Agency allows you to check if 
someone is registered. Licensed traders who don’t have enough drivers are sub-
letting to unlicensed traders

Page 6



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 22.09.2021

5

Refuse and Recycling

The council has achieved a recycling rate of 43.5% in the year 2020-21, an increase of 1.0% 
compared to 2019-20. An additional 3,826.5 tonnes of household waste was collected in 
2020-21, an increase of 13.1% compared to 2019-20.

We are looking at ways to get people to reduce residual waste and hopefully with residents 
going back to work that will help. Contamination has dropped by 3% as we did a lot of work 
through social media to teach people about contaminated waste. The plastics campaign will 
continue into next year and is funded by RECOUP (a plastics recycling charity).

Buzz Garden

This is around climate change. Works have continued in Windmill Gardens with additional 
planting and wild flower areas and we are looking at some wild flowers in the cemeteries to 
attract bees.

Cemetery Service

Introduced set funeral times as a result of Covid to enable us to manage increase in 
demand. We are making improvements to Northfleet Cemetery which is the only one used 
for new burials and have removed the roundabout, straightened the road and created 
passing bays. 

Vehicle Workshop at Brookvale

Installing a MOT facility so we can MOT all GBC fleet and third party vehicles.

Employment opportunities

The workshop has a strong history of training staff and three out of four staff are former 
apprentices. We have two apprentices at the moment. We have been talking to North Kent 
College about providing additional work placements to aid the professional development of 
other local young persons. We maintain everything from a strimmer to a dustcart and not 
many workshops do that variety of work and anyone who comes to us gets a real grounding.

Members commented as follows:

 We welcome the focus on apprenticeships particularly with the current level of youth 
unemployment

 Thrilled to see the bee garden and work around the site on Windmill Hill, it is a key 
focal point on the hill

 Very much welcome the investment that has gone into Northfleet Cemetery. It is 
great we are getting more grave space 

The Assistant Director (Operations) responded to Members questions as follows: 

 Not sure if Members grant went towards the bee garden but do know that there was 
external funding and will look into that and get some signage on the Hill

 There has been incidences where people have been locked in Gravesend Cemetery. 
It is locked because of anti-social behaviour. We will make sure we are more explicit 
about the times 

Page 7



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 22.09.2021

6

 It would be a great idea to have wild flowers on the roundabouts and verges as it 
would be good for the ecosystem but they are mostly KCC maintained. We can open 
up dialogue with them. We have been looking at verges we own to see if we can do 
something around wild flowers. This is something high on the agenda of the Climate 
Change Working Group

 Some people think these wild meadows are just because we aren’t cutting grass and 
we are doing it for a purpose. However, it does take a lot of effort to maintain them. 
We can put some more information out there around why they are there and the 
benefits

 We limit workshop apprentices to two so we can give them the right education as 
they have to be overseen. Over the last few years we have had six and all have 
continued to work for us. We are looking across all the disciplines at the depot, 
caretakers, cemeteries and offering a wide range of skills, teaching them to use hand 
tools such as strimmers and helping them with the discipline of getting up at 7am for 
work

11. Flats Recycling Update 

The Assistant Director (Operations) and the Waste Projects & Compliance Officer provided 
the Committee with an update on the improvements being made to the recycling provision at 
flats within the borough to increase resident participation and minimise contamination.

An audit of all flats within the borough is underway including purpose-built flats with 
communal waste and recycling storage areas to look at how we can improve recycling. The 
review of all the Housing Revenue Accounts flats has shown that 70% of GBC flats have 
access to recycling provision but we want to be 100% where that is possible. We aim to look 
at this in a more structured way. We have tested the concept on some smaller schemes and 
now want to role this out across the borough including private flats and our desktop exercise 
has shown that only 32% currently have dry mixed recycling provision.

The project will be delivered in three stages:

Stage 1 Sheltered Flats – To introduce dry mixed recycling at 83 properties in Longferry 
Court, Blenheim Grove and Cleveland House and to introduce food waste collections at all 
16 blocks containing 454 flats.

Stage 2 General Housing Flats – To work with external contractors to improve waste storage 
provision and to introduce dry mixed recycling to19 blocks (655 flats) that currently don’t 
have provision.

Stage 3 Private Flats – To audit private blocks of flats identified as being without dry mixed 
recycling in order to identify managing agents and offer advice on what is required.

Communication – This has increased to educate residents about what should and shouldn’t 
be put in recycling bins. New stickers and leaflets have been prepared which will catch the 
eye. Signage is based on what has been tried and tested in many London boroughs.

If it does become a legal requirement to offer food waste collection to everyone we want to 
be in a position to role that out to flats by trying to future proof what we are doing.

Page 8



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 22.09.2021

7

The Assistant Director (Operations) responded to Members’ comments as follows:

 With regard to having multi-collection points in areas such as the car park behind the 
houses in Mackenzie Way, potentially this is something we could look at as it has 
been successful in other areas where there has been flats above garages and we 
have put in some enclosed storage and the residents have keys. They now have 
somewhere to store rubbish and fly-tipping has gone away

 Care has been taken to ensure the signs meet requirements in respect of being 
suitable for someone who is partially sighted or Dementia. A lot of work in London 
has been done around signage and this mimics what they have being doing very 
successfully

 We have been looking at how we can improve bin store signage and we have been 
working with private Letting Agents to get something that works across the county 
and not just Gravesham 

Members noted the report and are pleased to see the progress being made.

12. Taxi Tariff 

The Regulatory Services Manager advised that the purpose of this report is to present 
Committee with the proposed consultation methodology for the taxi tariff and ask Committee 
to accept the methodology and give consent to proceed as set out.

The council has an on-going undertaking to review the tariff every two years. It is best 
practice and not a statutory requirement but seems to work well among local trade. In the 
past Gravesham has chosen to set a tariff which represents the maximum that can be 
charged rather than fixed or minimum fares. Committee reviewed the tariff this time in 2019 
and we introduced a revised tariff put through by the traders at the time. We haven’t had any 
complaints brought to our attention by the trade or the travelling public and so the structure 
seems to be working well.

The tariff is made up of two parts, the ‘flag’ which is the amount shown on the meter at the 
start of the journey and the minimum fee payable and the ‘yardage’ which dictates how 
quickly the meter goes up over distance. When we engaged with the trade in 2019 they 
asked to simplify our consultation going forward so we only consult on those two items.

We are proposing to ask the Hackney Carriage drivers to advise what their preferred option 
is for the flag – decrease by 20p to £2.60; remain the same at £2.80; increase by 20p to 
£3.00 or increase by 40p to £3.20. It was requested that any changes are made by 20p.

We now have a very good on-line offering and can reach out to every driver by email and so 
we are proposing to consult by email only to Hackney Carriage drivers over a period of three 
weeks.

The Regulatory Services Manager responded to Members’ questions as follows:

 We don’t know how many of our vehicles are also licensed with Uber, the answer 
should be zero as our policy prohibits them doing that. There is established case law 
that once a vehicle is licensed as Hackney Carriage or private hire it remains as only 
that. Because this consultation is going out to Hackney Carriage drivers it would be 
unlawful for them to be private hire at the same time 

Page 9



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 22.09.2021

8

 We will carry out the consultation and then bring back the results and at that time we 
will also set out where Gravesham sits in the national league table

 It was agreed to discuss the issue of Hackney Carriage drivers doubling up outside of 
the meeting as the concern is that it is a major problem in the borough and we need 
to crack down on it particularly as those who rely on Hackney Carriage could be 
disadvantaged

 There is a cost involved to make changes to the meter as it has to be re-calibrated 
but the trade are aware of the cost and are used to having a tariff review every two 
years

 In terms of what Uber charge, we can try to get some figures for that but because 
they are private hire they are not working on a tariff, there is more discretion so we 
will struggle to get comparisons

 The Chair agreed to have a discussion with the Regulatory Services Manager and 
the Licensing Manager before the consultation results come back to Committee

The report was noted and agreed.

13. Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2021-22 

The Regulatory Services Manager presented the Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan for 
Quarter One 2021-22 (April to June 2021).

The following comments were made by the officers during the update:

PI 3 – There has been a drop in Q1 compared to Q4. Having looked at the reported 
accidents in detail, the small peak in Q4 appears to have been the result of icy conditions 
resulting in some additional slips and falls.

PI 4 – There is a slow downward trend. It doesn’t reflect a reduction in the level of 
compliancy. If a food establishment is closed down it is seen as non-compliant if it can’t be 
inspected. By Q3/Q4 we expect we will see it start to pick up to pre-Covid levels. 

PI 5 – This is consistently high at 98% despite an elevated level of complaints and service 
requests in Q1. This is a positive outcome.
PI 8 – This is slightly up on the last quarter and is a national trend. We are working on 
strategies to see how we can reduce that.

PI 10 – Working with KCC and continuing to reduce the amount of waste going to landfill 
which is positive.

PI 11 – There has been a slight increase in graffiti compared to this time last year. Covid had 
an impact on response time as we have had to prioritise services but we are now getting 
back to normality and we respond as quickly as possible.

Members noted the information contained within the report.

Page 10



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 22.09.2021

9

14. Corporate Register of Partnership 

The Service Manager (Property & Regulatory Services) presented this report to inform 
Committee of the council’s involvement in partnerships that are within the remit of the 
committee.

Members raised the following questions:

 Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership – We are paying £6,000 each to this 
organisation, are we getting our monies worth and what weight have they on 
infrastructure projects? Would they fight our corner on projects such as Lower 
Thames Crossing? Are all the other partners paying their share as well? A number of 
District Councils across Kent have cut their funds to this organisation and so should 
we be paying this amount when others are paying nothing?

 Have we weighed up the benefits of adopting the model that Dartford and Sevenoaks 
have with King’s College? Do we feel we are getting something out of this group 
compared to finding our own way particularly around infrastructure projects and 
would like to see others fighting our corner. Dartford may have paid more but some 
of the data they have pulled out on Lower Thames Crossing may have gone in their 
favour

The Regulatory Services Manager responded to Members’ questions as follows:

 The Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership is a forum for sharing best practice. 
The £6,000 is the contribution we have to make towards our air quality network 
monitoring. It is a statutory requirement and includes our tube networks across the 
borough and two permanent 24/7 air stations. We have the best monitoring response 
rate of all the boroughs. Every District is part of the partnership. Dartford and 
Sevenoaks aren’t part of the monitoring network as they have separate ones with 
King’s College so they don’t pay in but all the others share the cost

 I don’t believe the partnership feeds into the local infrastructure projects as it is dealt 
with through the planning system but it does provide advice and best practice. It 
would have been a lot more money to go through King’s College. We benefit by 
economies of scale through the partnership

It was agreed that a meeting would be arranged between the Chair and the Regulatory 
Services Manager to discuss the two issues raised i.e. Hackney Carriage drivers and air 
quality monitoring.

Members noted the information contained within the report.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.25 pm

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: 16 November 2021

Reporting officer: Regulatory Services Manager

Subject: Review of Taxi Tariff 2021

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present the Operational Services Cabinet Commitee with the outcome of the recent 
consultation with Gravesham-licenced Hackney Carriage drivers on the bi-annual taxi tariff 
review.

Recommendations:
1. That Members consider whether there should be any amendments to the current 

taxi tariff and make any recommendations to the Portfolio Holder for approval.

2. That the Portfolio Holder approves any changes recommended under their 
delegated powers as set out in Annex 1.6 of the Councils’ Constitution and 
authorises the Regulatory Services Manager to proceed with and complete the tariff 
setting process.

3. That Members endorse the next review of the tariff to commence no later than 
autumn 2023 in accordance with the previously agreed two yearly timetable.

1. Background 

1.1 A report was brought before the Operational Services Cabinet Committee on 22 
September 2021 outlining proposals to consult with the local taxi trade on the taxi 
tariff.

1.2 Members of the Cabinet Committee duly considered the proposed consultation 
methodology and instructed the Regulatory Services Manager to consult with the 
local taxi trade as set out in the report.

1.3 The consultation commenced on 23 September in accordance with the 
aforementioned consultation methodology, which saw the trade being asked to 
advise on their preferred option for changes to the flag (the amount shown on the 
meter at the start of a journey and therefore the minimum fare) out of the following 
four choices:

Page 13 Agenda Item 5



2

1.3.1 For it to decrease it by 20p to £2.60

1.3.2 For it to remain the same at £2.80

1.3.3 For it to increase by 20p to £3.00

1.3.4 For it to increase by 40p to £3.20

1.4 In accordance with section 2.5 of the report brought before the Operational 
Services Cabinet Committee on 22 September, the results from the consultation 
have been collated and are set out in section 2, below. 

2. Consultation Outcome

2.1 All 163 Gravesham-licenced taxi drivers were consulted by way of emails to 143 
addresses, some of which are used by multiple drivers.

2.2 Only 23 drivers had responded to consultation at the half way point.  A reminder 
email was therefore sent to the whole trade marked as urgent, urging them to 
respond to the consultation before the deadline. 

2.3 At the end of the consultation period a total of 65 drivers had responded, 
representing 40% of the taxi trade.

2.4 A summary of the responses received is set out in the table below:

Option 
No. Option details Number of votes

Percentage (of the 
total number of 

responses)

1 Decrease the flag by 20p to £2.60 0 0%

2 Keep the flag the same at £2.80 22 33.8%

3 Increase the flag by 20p to £3.00 26 40.0%

4 Increase the flag by 40p to £3.20 17 26.2%

2.5 As can be seen:

2.5.1 None of the drivers who responded were in favour of decreasing the flag.

2.5.2 66.2% of drivers who responded were in favour of an increase to the flag.

2.5.3 The single most popular option was to increase the flag by 20p.

3. Benchmarking

3.1 Private Hire and Taxi Monthly, a website and monthly magazine for the trade and 
licensing authorities, maintains a ‘league table’ of tariffs set by licensing 
authorities (including Transport for London in relation to London ‘Black Cabs’) 
from the highest to lowest based on the cost of a 2 mile journey on Rate 1.  

Page 14



3

3.2 The October 2021 figures for all Kent licensing authorities are provided in 
Appendix 3.  Members will note that, based on these figures, Gravesham 
currently has joint 6th highest fare out of the 13 Kent local authorities including 
Medway.

3.3 According to the national fares table, Gravesham currently has the 45th highest 2-
mile fare out of 364 licensing authorities (although this is technically joint 39th).

3.4 For the purposes of benchmarking, the table below indicates where Gravesham 
would sit in the league table based on each of the 4 consultation options set out in 
section 1.3 of this report.  

Option 
No. Option details

Resultant place in 
National league 

table (out of 364)

Resultant place in 
Kent & Medway 

league table (out of 
13)

1 Decrease the flag by 20p to £2.60 Joint 62nd Joint 7th

2 Keep the flag the same at £2.80 Listed 45th Joint 6th

3 Increase the flag by 20p to £3.00 Joint 27th Joint 5th 

4 Increase the flag by 40p to £3.20 Joint 15th Joint 1st

3.5 Members should note that these results are indicative only and based on all other 
council’s tariffs remaining the same which is unlikely to happen in practice.

3.6 There are of course numerous other factors that Members may wish to consider 
such as the costs of living and working as a taxi driver, effects of the pandemic, 
competition from other forms of public transport, and public safety in terms of the 
availability and attractiveness/affordability of the local taxi service to the travelling 
public.

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 None.  Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 15



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The authority for the council to fix fares for hackney carriages is given under 
Section 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.
When a council makes or varies a table of fares, it must publish in one local 
newspaper a notice setting out the table of fares, or variations to the table, 
specifying the period (not less than 14 days) within which, objections to the table or 
variations can be made.
A copy of the proposed tariff must then be available at the council’s offices for the 
public to inspect, free of charge, at all reasonable hours.
If there are no objections, the table, or variation, will come into effect on the 
expiration date of the period specified in the notice.
If there are objections the council must set a further date, within two months after 
the date first specified, on which the table is to come into force with or without 
modification, as decided. Any such modification would be dealt with by the portfolio 
holder using powers already delegated to them in the Constitution.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The cost of re-calibrating individual meters would be met by individual hackney 
carriage proprietors.
The £50 cost of the newspaper advertisement (required when changing the tariff) 
would be accommodated from within the G336/38102 (‘Advertising – not for 
recruitment’) budget of £500 for 21/22.

Risk Assessment An unreasonably expensive tariff could be a source of resentment amongst the 
travelling public.  The taxi tariff does however represent the maximum fare that can 
be charged and so drivers are able to charge less to be competitive if they so wish. 
Equally, and just as importantly, the council's tariff limits the earning potential of its 
licensed taxi trade and so an unreasonably low tariff could be a source of 
resentment amongst the trade.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

 Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes – An overly expensive taxi tariff may affect the ability of those on a low
income to afford a taxi.  Members need to weigh up the effect of all potential
users of taxis against the needs of the trade who provide the service to local
users.

Page 16

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan There are direct links to Objective #1 – People, and indirect links to support 
objective #2 Place.

Climate Change Whilst the taxi tariff does not have a direct impact on climate change, the cost of a 
journey for the travelling public, and earning potential for existing and future taxi 
drivers, may affect the number of taxis on the road and/or the number of journeys 
they make, which will affect climate change.  The emissions of taxis is however a 
separate, albeit associated, matter dealt with by way of policy, and it is therefore 
suggested that climate change should not be a primary consideration in 
determining the setting of the local taxi tariff.

Crime and Disorder There are obvious links to community safety in ensuring an adequate supply of 
properly licensed taxis as a safe mode of transport for the public, particularly when 
other public transport is unavailable, for example during the night time economy 
period. An unreasonably low earning potential could reduce the number of licensed 
taxis and also therefore the ability for people to get home, or elsewhere, safely.
Similarly, and unreasonably high fare but deter the public from using locally 
licenced taxis.

Charging more than the maximum permitted fare is an offence.  Ensuring a simple 
tariff structure, that is easy for the public and drivers to understand, can reduce the 
likelihood of taxi meters being set at a higher than permitted rate, or for additional 
charges inadvertently being made.

Digital and website 
implications

The Digital Team would be asked to upload a copy of any updated Tariff on to the 
council's website and may be asked to assist in publicising any changes approved.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The current version of the council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy includes mandatory safeguarding training as a pre-requisite to being able to 
apply for a licence. Drivers and operators are required by way of licence conditions 
to report concerns of CSE to Kent Police. The policy also includes guidance on the 
use of immediate suspensions/revocations, which could potentially be used in 
instances of suspected or confirmed CSE to safeguard the public.

Page 17



6

APPENDIX 2 – Current Tariff

Rate 1 
For the first 320 yards £2.80
For each subsequent 160 yards or part thereof, or each 
stationary waiting period of 40 seconds £0.20

After 6 miles, for each additional 135.39 yards or part thereof, 
or each stationary waiting period of 40 seconds £0.20

Rate 2
For any hiring commenced:

 at any time on a bank holiday or public holiday
 between 18:00 and midnight on 24 December and 31 

December 
 between midnight and 06:00 on any other day
 at any time when carrying 5 to 8 passengers other than 

when Rate 4 would be in effect

Rate 1 + 50% 

Rate 3
 For any hiring commenced on Sundays between 06:00 

and midnight when carrying 1 to 4 passengers Rate 1 + £0.60

Rate 4
For any hiring commenced:

 between 00:01 on 25 December and 06.00 on 27 
December 

 between 00.01 on 1 January and 06.00 on 2 January
 between midnight and 06:00 when carrying 5 to 8 

passengers

Rate 1 + 100% 

Rate 5 
 For any hiring commenced on Sundays between 06:00 

and midnight when carrying 5 to 8 passengers Rate 2 + £0.60

Extra Charges
Any sundry expenses incurred (i.e. Toll Charges, Parking fees, 
Ferry Fees, Congestion Charges)

Amount Incurred

If vehicle is soiled to the extent that it has to be cleansed 
before re-use

£75.00

Page 18



7

APPENDIX 3 - Benchmarking of taxi tariffs in Kent – October 2021

Position in 
League 

Table out 
of Kent 

Councils

Position in 
League 

Table out of 
364 

Councils 
Nationally

Council

Fare for 2 
Mile journey 
on Tariff One 

as at Oct 
2021

Last rise

1 18 Tunbridge Wells £7.20 2019

2 21 Dartford £7.10 2018

3 22 Dover £7.10 2021

4 26 Sevenoaks £7.06 2019

5 31 Tonbridge & 
Malling £7.00 2018

6 45 Gravesham £6.80 2019

7 51 Swale £6.80 2018

8 72 Medway £6.60 2020

9 82 Ashford £6.50 2019

10 85 Maidstone £6.50 2017

11 89 Canterbury £6.40 2019

12 133 Folkestone & Hythe £6.20 2012

13 294 Thanet £5.40 2015

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: 16 November 2021

Reporting officer: Mark Lees, Regulatory Services Manager

Subject: Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy Interim 
Review

Purpose and summary of report: 
1. To present Members with proposed amendments to the Hackney Carriage and 

Private Hire Licensing Policy and the associated consultation methodology.

Recommendations:
1. Members to consider the proposed policy amendments in respect of vehicle 

emissions and vehicle inspections.

2. Members to consider the policy consultation process as outlined and provide any 
comments and relevant amendments in respect of the same.

1. Background

1.1 Although it is not a statutory requirement, the council has published a Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy since January 2009.

1.2 Following formal consultation, and subsequent consideration of the consultation 
responses and officer recommendations by the Operational Services Cabinet 
Committee at their meeting of 24 March 2021, the fifth (and current) edition came 
into effect on 1 May 2021 after having received formal approval by the Portfolio 
Holder.

1.3 The aforementioned consultation responses and officer recommendations were 
set out in Appendix 4 of the report presented to the Operational Services Cabinet 
Committee.  

1.4 In that report, the following officer comment/recommendation was made in 
response to concerns raised by the Taxi Driver Working Group on behalf of the 
wider trade about the cost implications associated with proposals to strengthen 
the vehicle emissions criteria from the start date of the revised policy:

“…the subject of vehicle emissions and alternatively fuelled (e.g. electric) 
vehicles requires more extensive consideration. It is therefore proposed that the 
council’s policy on this remains as is currently set out in the 2018-21 Policy whilst 

Page 21 Agenda Item 6



2

this takes place, with a view to carrying out an interim policy review and 
associated consultation of this element of the Policy as soon as practicable.”

1.5 The draft revised policy also included a new paragraph setting out the council’s 
intention to increase the frequency of vehicle inspections as follows:

In order to better ensure that the high standards expected by the council are 
maintained, in support of its corporate and policy objectives, and ensure their 
fitness, the frequency of routine inspections is intended to increase from annually 
to six-monthly (or other such intervals as may be specified) after the 
implementation date of this policy.  Any such inspections will be at the licence 
holders’ cost and carried out within the borough at such place as the council 
requires.  Changes will be notified to licence holders in advance and full details 
will be maintained on the council’s website.

1.6 The Taxi Driver Working Group stated that, whilst they understood the reason for 
additional vehicle inspections at 6 monthly intervals, they were concerned about 
the possible extra cost implications associated with it.  The following officer 
comment/recommendation was made in response:

“The policy does not yet introduce this requirement, but does identify it as likely to 
be introduced in order to be proactively transparent.  The taxi and PH licensing 
regime's purpose is to protect public safety. An increase in inspections, or 
improvement to the way in which they are carried out, can only serve to support 
this and so this should remain in the final policy to allow implementation if/when 
appropriate.  The council considers the impacts on licence holders carefully in all 
associated decisions it makes, and therefore any cost/time implications will be 
given due consideration if/when this policy requirement is introduced.”

1.7 In recognition of the matters outlined above, the current Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing Policy confirmed that:

“The Council therefore proposes to carry out an interim review of this policy and 
associated consultation in relation to the vehicle emission and inspection 
standards as soon as practicable.”

1.8 The purpose of this report is therefore to progress the proposed interim policy 
review.

2. Proposed Policy Revisions – Vehicle Emissions

2.1 Having given careful consideration to the Taxi Driver Working Group’s concerns 
about the cost implications associated with initial proposals to strengthen vehicle 
emissions criteria within a short time-frame, but also to the council’s commitment 
to take action to prepare for the borough to become carbon neutral by 2030 
following its declaration of a climate emergency in June 2019 and the steps it 
must take to support this, the following additions to the Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing Policy are proposed:

2.1.1 From 1 April 2025, all vehicle licence applications for newly licenced 
vehicles (i.e. all applications other than those to ‘renew’ an existing vehicle 
licence for the same vehicle by the same holder) must be for vehicles that 
are powered wholly by electricity.

Page 22



3

2.1.2 From 1 April 2030, all vehicle licence applications must be for vehicles that 
are powered wholly by electricity.

2.2 It is considered that these proposals will strike the best available balance between 
the two matters outlined in 2.1.

2.3 It is recognised that electric vehicles require charging, and that not all licence 
holders will have the ability to charge their vehicles from their homes. Efforts are 
therefore underway to ensure that suitable and sufficient charging points will made 
available to locally licenced taxi and private hire drivers before 1 April 2025.

3. Proposed Policy Revisions – Vehicle Inspections and MOT tests

Current Requirements:

3.1 Road Traffic legislation requires that all vehicles must undergo MOT tests 
annually from their 3rd anniversary to ensure that road safety and environmental 
standards are met.

3.2 Because the safe transport of passengers in taxis and PHVs is of paramount 
importance, and given the above-average mileage often carried out by taxis and 
Private Hire Vehicles compared to ordinary private vehicles, the council’s Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy requires that:

3.2.1 All licenced vehicles over one year old are required to pass an MOT test 
every six months to help ensure their general fitness and roadworthiness.  

3.3 In effect, this means that a brand new taxi or PHV currently has to undergo 4 
additional MOT tests before their first legally required one at 3 years old, and then 
an interim MOT test at the 6 month point between each annual MOT test 
thereafter.

3.4 In addition to the MOT requirements, all licenced vehicles will ordinarily require 
inspection by officers before a new, renewed, transferred or amended vehicle 
licence will be granted in order to ensure that the vehicle is fit and meets our 
[policy] criteria as well as that set out in hackney carriage and private hire 
legislation.  This generally equates to an annual inspection owing to the fact that 
vehicle licences are granted for a standard period of one year.

Vehicle Inspection Proposal 1:

3.5 In order to support the intended outcomes summarised in paragraph 1.5 of this 
report, whilst also taking into account the concerns expressed by the trade in 
relation to the possible extra cost implications associated with increasing the 
frequency of vehicle inspections from yearly to six-monthly, and the resources 
available to the council, both in terms of its Licensing Service and vehicle 
workshop facilities, it is proposed that:

3.5.1 All additional MOT tests currently required by the council beyond those 
required by Road Traffic legislation (i.e. when vehicles are 1, 1 ½, 2 and 2 
½ years old, and then at the 6 month point between each annual MOT), 
will be replaced with a safety and standards inspection, to be carried out 
by appropriately qualified technicians at the council’s vehicle workshop 
located at the Brookvale Depot, or such other place as the council may 
reasonably require.

Page 23



4

3.6 This approach would ensure that key checks currently carried out as part of MOT 
tests can continue to take place to ensure no reduction in road safety and 
environmental standards, but also enable the council to carry out additional 
compliance checks that would not be included as part of a standard MOT test at 
an alternative garage, for example, those set out in our policy relating to vehicle 
aesthetics (i.e. exterior and interior condition), signage, licence plates, 
documentation, etc. without drivers incurring any additional costs.

3.7 Other anticipated benefits include:

3.7.1 The efficient reporting of inspection data back to the Licensing Service in a 
consistent and secure way, thereby reducing the administrative burden on 
Licensing Officers and enabling them to process licence applications, and 
follow up on any failings, faster to the benefit of service users.

3.7.2 Ability to adapt inspection criteria when required, for example, following 
changes to policy, tariff amendments, best practice or legislation.

3.8 These inspections would be chargeable and the charge will be in line with the 
Government’s set standard for MOT fees. 

3.9 It will be important to have a safety net in place to ensure that vehicles can still 
have appropriate safety, emissions and standards checks carried out to enable 
them to continue to be licenced as taxis or private hire vehicles in the event that 
the council’s workshop becomes unavailable.  It is therefore proposed that a 
caveat will be built in to the policy which will allow MOT tests (at any authorised 
testing centre) and officer inspections to be used in place of the new safety and 
standards inspections in such eventualities at officers’ discretion and with their 
written consent.

Vehicle Inspection Proposal 2:

3.10 In addition to the proposal outlined in 3.5.1, it is also proposed that:

3.10.1 All routine vehicle licensing inspections (e.g. the application inspections 
carried out as part of new applications and annual renewal applications 
thereafter) currently carried out by Licensing Officers, will instead be 
carried out by technicians at the council’s vehicle workshop located at the 
Brookvale Depot.

3.11 The aims of this proposal are to:

3.11.1 Enable enhanced checks to be carried out by trained technicians, which 
may not be obvious to non-mechanically trained Licensing Officers, 
thereby potentially increasing passenger safety.

3.11.2 Provide licence holders with more flexibility in terms of appointment times.

3.11.3 Reduce the burden on Licensing Officers and, in doing so, enable their 
resources to be put to better use and increase resilience.

3.12 Commercially, it is also hoped that increasing the frequency and number of visits 
licence holders make to the vehicle workshop will correspond to an increase in the 
number of additional, paid for, services they choose to have carried out there, e.g. 

Page 24



5

annual MOTs and vehicle servicing/repairs, as a result of positive experiences 
and convenience.

3.13 The costs of routine inspections of vehicles are currently included within the 
licence fee.  If a new/additional fee were to be introduced for these inspections, 
the licence fees would therefore need to be reduced accordingly.  Instead of this 
approach, which would create unnecessary additional work for licence holders 
and council staff, it is instead proposed that an internal recharge would be 
arranged in the region of £20 per vehicle, i.e. £3660 per annum based on the 183 
vehicles currently licenced.

3.14 As outlined in 3.9, it is important that a safety net is in place for contingency 
planning purposes to ensure the continued smooth running of operations.  
Licensing Officers will remain authorised under the legislation to carry out vehicle 
inspections and/or require vehicle proprietors to present their vehicles for 
inspection and testing elsewhere within the district, and they will therefore 
continue to have the ability to ensure vehicles are suitably inspected as part of 
their licence applications in the event of the workshop becoming unavailable.   

3.15 Any such changes to the vehicle inspection provisions within the council’s Policy 
would take effect at the earliest practicable opportunity.

4. Consultation

4.1 It is proposed to consult with the following parties:

 All current hackney carriage vehicle or driver licence holders licensed by 
Gravesham Borough Council

 All current private hire vehicle, driver or operator licence holders licensed by 
Gravesham Borough Council

 Gravesend Town Centre Management

 Borough Councillors

 Parish Councils

 Members of the Kent and Medway Regulatory Licensing Steering Group

 Members of the public through the council’s website

4.2 A consultation of at least four weeks is proposed.  Methods of consultation will be 
via the council’s website and by direct email and mail shots to the agreed 
consultees.

4.3 All incoming responses will be collated and entered onto a grid for consideration.

4.4 The Regulatory Services Manager and/or Licensing Manager will conduct an 
evaluation of each response and give a recommendation, in consultation with 
other internal stakeholders, as to whether or not to amend the policy and, if so, to 
what extent. 

5. Post-consultation

5.1 The grid and recommendations will be put back before the Operational Services 
Cabinet Committee for further, post-consultation, consideration.

Page 25



6

5.2 Any proposed variations by Members of the Operational Services Cabinet 
Committee will then be incorporated into the revised Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing Policy to create a final updated version.

5.3 Following consideration of the outcome of the consultation process and 
subsequent recommendations, the amended Policy will then be approved for 
adoption by the Portfolio Holder for Operational Services before publication. 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 26



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There is no legal requirement for a policy, however it is best practice.  This is 
different from the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005 where a written 
policy is a legal requirement.

Rights of appeal are granted to all applicants and licensees who are aggrieved by 
any licensing decisions.

LAs cannot specify where licenced vehicles (or vehicles to be licenced) must have 
MOT tests carried out; however s.50 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 allows LA to specify where and when proprietors must take 
their vehicles for inspection and testing, provided that location is within the council’s 
area and vehicles are not required to attend more than 3 times in a 12 month 
period.

Under the Human Rights Act 1998 Members must consider the hackney carriage 
and private hire drivers’ right to “enjoyment of possession” under Article 1 of the 
First Protocol – Protection of Property and in determining a policy regarding the 
licensing of these individuals must balance this right with need to protect the public.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The cost of consultation and publishing an updated policy will is negligible and will 
be met from within existing budgets. 
The proposed amendments to the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy are not envisaged to place any new financial pressures on the Council.
Implementation of Vehicle Inspection Proposal 1 as outlined above would create a 
new income stream for the council of approx. £7320 per annum based on the 
current number of licences vehicles and a fee of £40, which is considered to be 
appropriate for the work involved and would not financially disadvantage licence 
holders as it approximately equivalent to current MOT they already incur.
Implementation of Vehicle Inspection Proposal 2 as outlined above would not 
create any direct additional income for the council as the costs are already included 
within the vehicle licence application fee.  Instead, an internal recharge would be 
arranged in the region of £20 per vehicle, i.e. £3660 per annum from the G017 cost 
centre.  It may however create an additional indirect income stream by creating 
opportunity for an increase in the number of additional voluntary paid for services 
vehicle proprietors choose to have carried out.

Risk Assessment Affected licence holders may take issue with the proposals outlined in this report 
due to such reasons as having to purchase or lease electric vehicles, or changing 
the location of vehicle inspections, however these risk are proactively mitigated by 
the consultation process which provides them with an opportunity to raise any 
concerns and for them to be duly considered prior to the implementation of any 
policy changes.
Other mitigation:
The proposed vehicle specification changes provide an appropriately lengthy lead 
in period.
The proposed inspection changes would not financially disadvantage any licence 
holders; the location of the workshop remains central and easy to reach; the nature 
of the inspections would ensure no reduction in standards but in fact allow for these 
to be enhanced.
The workshop capacity has been reviewed to ensure that the proposed number of 

Page 27



8

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
inspections, with allowance for contingencies, is viable
The policy is routinely reviewed every five years, but can be reviewed at any stage 
and as often as required in the interim period meaning that any unforeseen issues 
arising can be revised as required.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
Yes

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
No

 Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes.  Lower income licence holders may struggle more to find affordable 
electric vehicles.  The duration of the lead in period is intended to help mitigate 
this and it is expected that as time moves on, the used electric vehicle market 
will grow and EVs will become more affordable, i.e. their prices will drop.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Licensing links directly to Corporate Objective #1 People, and feeds into/supports 
Corporate Objective #3 Progress

Climate Change The proposed vehicle specification changes to move towards all licenced vehicles 
becoming electrically powered makes a positive contribution towards reducing 
carbon emissions and improving air quality in support of the council’s Carbon 
Neutral Commitment, made following its declaration of a Climate Emergency.

Crime and Disorder There are links to community safety in ensuring an adequate supply of properly 
licensed taxis and PHVs as a safe mode of transport for the public

Digital and website 
implications

Continued assistance is required from the IT and Digital Teams to support the 
Licensing Services’ existing digital successes and ongoing, future digital 

Page 28

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


9

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
aspirations.
Minor website updates will be required for the consultation and publication of an 
updated policy.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

Licensing regimes are largely designed to protect public safety.  The proposed 
changes to the vehicle inspection provisions of the policy present an opportunity to 
enhance the standard of checks.

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: Tuesday, 16th November 2021

Reporting officer: Joel Simons - Waste Projects & Compliance Officer

Subject: Street Champions Initiative Update

Purpose and summary of report: 
To update Members on the improvements made to volunteer litter picking activities in the 
borough through the 'Street Champions' initiative which launched in January 2020 and to 
provide an update on proposed future developments to the scheme. 

Recommendations:
1. Members are requested to endorse the proposal to introduce a Ward Co-Ordinator 

role for Members, as set out within the report.

1. Overview

1.1 The new ‘Adopt a Street - The Street Champions’ initiative was launched in 
January 2020 to further develop the previous Community Litter Picking scheme.  
The initiative is managed by the Waste Projects & Compliance Officer with 
support from the Community Involvement Officer.

1.2 The success of the Street Champions scheme has shown the level of civic pride 
across the borough and has demonstrated that many people take pride in their 
local area.

1.3 The Street Champions are a network of residents who have volunteered to 
improve the quality of the local environment. The Street Champions do this by 
litter picking and reporting environmental crimes and other issues to help make 
Gravesham a cleaner, greener borough.

1.4 The initiative is intended to deliver the aims of the Corporate Plan, namely to 
create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks (#1 People).

1.5 The Street Champions do more than litter picking - they act as our ‘eyes and 
ears;’ reporting fly-tipping, graffiti and other problems to us.  They also provide 
leaflets and advice to neighbours who need assistance in managing their waste 
responsibly.  Some volunteers even suggest locations for new litter bins and 
educational signage.

Page 31 Agenda Item 7



2

1.6 Volunteers are supplied with their own litter picker, a hoop to hold rubbish sacks 
open, a Hi-Viz jacket and orange waste sacks.

1.7 Volunteers are free to litter pick as often as they like and usually we ask that 
waste is left in our orange sacks next at pre-agreed locations so that they can be 
removed by our Operatives as soon as possible, as can be seen below.

1.8 Improvements to the existing Community Litter Picking scheme have included:

 The digital mapping of the streets, open spaces and alleyways adopted to 
enable new volunteers to opt to work collaboratively.

                        

 A digital database and management form to process volunteer sign-up 
and waste collection points.

 The creation of a dedicated mailbox monitored by Waste Management 
and Communities teams to ensure that litter-picked waste is collected 
efficiently by our waste crews, as well as facilitating suggestions from 
volunteers such as requests for litter bins in litter hot spots. 

Page 32



3

 The creation of mailing lists to enable news, updates and Great British 
Spring Clean details to be circulated to all volunteers simultaneously.

 The production of leaflets about Waste Management services for 
volunteers to discreetly post through the letter boxes of properties that do 
not seem to know their bin day, how to present waste correctly or may not 
know about our bulky waste services, resulting in additional untidiness.

 Closer collaboration with the Communications Team to share ‘good news’ 
stories and to enable links to anti-litter campaigns to be forged, such as 
about activity in the borough during the Great British Spring Clean.  An 
example of a social media post can be seen below.

1.9 A Street Champions logo has been created for use on information guidance and 
posters about the initiative and as a means of recognising the important work of 
our volunteers in their new expanded role in pledging to adopt their street. The 
logo can be seen below. 

Page 33



4

2. Membership

2.1 In January 2020, the existing Community Litter Picking scheme comprised of 98 
dedicated volunteers. 

2.2 National lockdowns and local health advice during the COVID-19 pandemic has 
meant that we have not advertised the scheme widely to date, however articles 
have appeared in Your Borough and some social media posts have promoted the 
scheme.

2.3 Many of our new volunteers found details about the scheme on our website or by 
having positive discussions with our existing volunteers while they are out litter 
picking and reporting issues to the Council or to other relevant organisations.

2.4 As of October 2021, the Street Champions initiative comprises of 380 volunteers, 
a 288% increase since January 2020.  This figure includes members of 51 litter 
picking groups in the borough.

2.5 The 380 volunteers have pledged to adopt 273 streets, pathways, alleyways and 
open spaces.

2.6 We plan to promote membership in the future and advertise the scheme.  Please 
see 7.1 to 7.4 for further information.

3. Impact of COVID-19

3.1 The COVID-19 pandemic had a huge impact on activity due to the national 
lockdowns and the suspension of litter picking equipment collections.

3.2 As detailed in 2.2, advertising of the scheme was suspended and we have not 
been able to widely publicise community litter picking events to minimise the risk 
of infringing the social distancing rules in place at the time. 

3.3 Some volunteers were forced to shield while other volunteers chose to continue to 
litter pick as part of their daily exercise during the national lockdowns. 

3.4 Community litter picking resumed in July 2020 with clear COVID-19 secure 
guidelines put in place and shared with volunteers on a regular basis and can be 
seen below.

Page 34



5

          

4. Activity

4.1 Since January 2020, in excess of 1,500 sacks of litter have been collected by our 
Street Champions.  This figure comprises of sacks reported through to the Street 
Champions mailbox for clearance and so any litter sacks that were left at pre-
agreed locations and were not reported via email may not be included in this 
figure.  A new digital solution for collecting this data is outlined in 6.1 to 6.5.

4.2 An example of the waste collected in a typical group community clean-up can be 
seen below.

4.3 Litter sacks are then cleared by Council Street Cleansing Operatives for 
appropriate disposal, as can be seen below.

Page 35



6

4.4 In the same time period, 98 individual litter picks have been organised and 
facilitated by Gravesham Borough Council.  These litter picks have involved 852 
volunteers.

4.5 Some litter picking groups organise monthly, quarterly or annual litter picks.

4.6 Our Street Champions also act as our ‘eyes and ears’ in the borough by reporting 
issues to us through online reporting forms, such as street cleansing requests, fly-
tipping, litter bin requests, build-up of leaves, weeds, graffiti and abandoned 
vehicles.

4.7 Some volunteers also email the team about other issues, such as dangerous 
parking, which can then be passed onto the relevant teams. 

4.8 A number of volunteers also highlight litter hotspots and request the installation of 
litter bins to improve litter management in these areas.  To date, 16 litter bins have 
been installed after requests by Street Champions.

5. Great British Spring Clean

5.1 In September 2020 and the Spring of 2021 an army of dedicated volunteers 
worked together across the borough as part of the Great British Spring Clean.

5.2 Local community groups, schools, families and individual Street Champions come 
together annually to clear litter in streets and open spaces across the borough as 
part of a nationwide mass tidy-up promoted by Keep Britain Tidy.  An example of 
volunteers on such a community clean-up can be seen below.

Page 36



7

5.3 Gravesham Borough Council support these community clean-up events by 
loaning litter picking kits, providing orange litter sacks and by removing the waste 
collected by volunteers.

5.4 The waste collected by a group of litter pickers as part of the Great British 
September Clean in 2020 on the Dering Way estate can be seen below.

6. New Data Collection System

6.1 The accurate collection of data about the waste collected and activity undertaken 
by Street Champions has been identified as an area where it would be helpful and 
interesting to have more information.

Page 37



8

6.2 To assist this, a digital data collection system has been developed by our Digital 
Team to enable volunteers to record their activity themselves on a monthly basis. 

6.3 This data is automatically collated by Ward, allowing Officers to provide borough-
wide and ward-level activity for Members and bespoke advertising campaigns.

6.4 The screenshot below shows the draft online management form to demonstrate 
the format of the data that will be collected, although final alterations may be 
made and additional data collection fields may be added before the launch of this 
new data collection system.

6.5 The form enables us to examine the statistics by each volunteer; each Ward as 
well as the whole body of volunteers.  This will enable us to better acknowledge 
volunteer activity & achievement.

6.6 Further work will be done in conjunction with the Digital Team to explore how best 
to communicate the data we collect for each Ward to the relevant Members.  If it is 
feasible, we could look to send out a monthly or quarterly snapshot to Members 
and volunteers about the activity within their respective Wards and across the 
borough.

7. Ward Co-Ordinator Role

7.1 A number of members already play an important role in co-ordinating the work of 
the Street Champions and building on this, a more formal but optional role is being 
proposed to involve Members in the work of the Street Champions within their 
respective Wards.

Page 38



9

7.2 All members are welcome to volunteer to be Ward Co-Ordinators for their 
respective Wards.  

7.3 As the role involves promoting the initiative to residents within the Ward and 
supporting volunteers in their community work, there is no limit placed on the 
number of Ward Co-Ordinators in each Ward - all Members may be Ward Co-
Ordinators within a given Ward if they wish. 

7.4 It is proposed that all Members will:

 Have the opportunity to sign up as a Street Champion Ward Co-Ordinator.

 Be kept apprised of upcoming events, campaigns and development of the 
initiative through Member Bulletins when appropriate.

 Be informed of the number of volunteers in their ward as well as the 
streets, alleyways, pathways and open spaces that are currently adopted 
within their Ward upon request from 
street.champions@gravesham.gov.uk. 

 Have the opportunity to receive guidance and training on completing the 
Council’s self-service reporting mechanisms so that any issues arising can 
be resolved promptly.

7.5 The ‘Ward Co-Ordinator’ role will involve:

 Promoting the initiative within their ward by sharing corporate advertising 
on social media or as posters; helping local Street Champions to organise 
community clean-up events in conjunction with Council Officers; 
encouraging interested residents to register as Street Champions.

 Bringing littering hotspots to the attention of Council Officers and 
encouraging local Street Champions to ‘adopt’ these areas where 
appropriate. 

 Promoting the Council’s self-service reporting mechanisms for volunteers 
to report environmental crimes for investigation & enforcement; reporting 
fly-tipped waste; reporting full and damaged litter bins; reporting graffiti or 
other issues.

 Communicating key messages and details of planned community clean-up 
events to the Street Champions within the ward when required.

 Promoting Keep Britain Tidy’s annual Great British Spring Clean and 
encouraging Street Champions to organise their community clean-up 
events.

7.6 The role will involve the option to keep a reserve of orange sacks and litter pickers 
to replenish the kit of existing volunteers without the need for them to visit the 
Council offices, resulting in less interruption to volunteer activities and ensuring 
ease of participation.  If Ward Co-ordinators opt to take on this additional 
responsibility, equipment should be distributed in a public place and not from the 
Members’ home address.

Page 39

mailto:street.champions@gravesham.gov.uk


10

8. Future Developments

8.1 While the Street Champions initiative has been successful to date, there are a 
number of improvements and developments that can be made to improve the 
impact of what volunteers are able to achieve.

8.2 These possible developments include:

 Involvement in transmitting important messages into the local community 
through displaying littering, fly-tipping & enforcement posters and 
delivering educational leaflets to signpost residents to our waste 
management services.

 Developing a bespoke reporting mechanism for providing our 
Environmental Enforcement Team with intelligence about fly-tipping on a 
local level.

 Developing a bespoke litter bin request mechanism for Street Champions.

 Creating a digital form for Street Champions to be able to request 
additional equipment or litter sacks. 

 Providing clear recycling sacks to enable bottles and cans picked up 
during litter picks to be recycled, thereby improving the Council’s recycling 
performance and reducing the impact of the disposal of street litter.  This 
improvement supports the Council’s pledge to increase recycling in the 
Carbon Neutral Gravesham 2030: Action Plan by reducing street litter 
arisings sent for incineration at an Energy from Waste (EfW) facility while 
capturing recyclate from street litter, thereby increasing the Council’s 
recycling performance.

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS

None.

Page 40



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Under the Environment Protection Act, the council has a duty to keep the streets 
clear of litter and remove fly-tipped waste.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The actions detailed in this report have improved street cleanliness and offer value 
for money.  The number of volunteers boosts the resource available to keep the 
borough clean and the volunteer work undertaken by the Street Champions 
supports the Council's investment in street cleansing resource and equipment.

Risk Assessment If action is not taken to improvement to the cleanliness of the borough, then the 
residents and visitors will have a negative view on the borough.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
No.

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A.

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People: To create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and delivering  
projects and initiatives to further increase recycling.

Climate Change Objective #1: Cleaner environment.  In addition, the separation & recycling of 
recyclable packaging from street litter will improve the Council's recycling 
performance while reducing the amount of street litter sent to Energy from Waste 
(EfW) facilities for incineration.

Crime and Disorder There are no implications.

Digital and website 
implications

There may be some project work arising from the further development of the Street 
Champions initiative.  Opportunities to expand the digital interface between Ward 
Co-Ordinators, Street Champions and the Waste Management Team will be 
capitalised upon wherever possible.

Page 41

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


12

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

Children under the age of 16 cannot register as Street Champions and must 
instead be supervised by their parents or legal guardians when litter picking.

Page 42



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Committee

Date: 16 November 2021

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations)
Mark Lees - Regulatory Services Manager

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2021-22 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Operational Services Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Two 2021-22 (July to September 2021). 

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 43 Agenda Item 8



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Operational Services 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter Two 2021-22, covering the period July to September 
2021. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

2.4 This report is for information purposes only.

3. Background papers

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 44

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The Plan ensures the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initiatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 45

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 46



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

O P E R A T I O N A L  S E R V I C E S
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  2  :  2  0  2  1  -  2  2

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 47



P I  3

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 11 3 4 5

2020-21 6 6 4 12

2021-22 7 4

2022-23

P I  4

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 93.0% 93.1% 94.2% 93.8%

2020-21 89.0% 87.7% 86.4% 84.0%

2021-22 83.2% 91.1%

2022-23

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
1. Enforce high regulatory standards: put customer and employee safety first by ensuring
commercial businesses and licence holders are fully compliant with expected legislative
standards.
Licensing:
In accordance with statutory policy review requirements, a draft revised Statement of Gambling Policy and 
associated consultation methodology were taken to the Licensing Committee for consideration in Q2.  
Officers have been consulting on the updated Policy and will report back to the Licensing Committee with 
the outcomes and recommendations in Q3, before the matter goes onwards to Full Council for formal 
approval.  Following discussion at the Committee, a new webpage has been created on the council’s 
website signposting service users to gambling help and support services to try and assist in reducing the 
prevalence of problem gambling and associated harms.

Environmental Health (Commercial Team): 
In Q2, the main focus has been getting back on track with the food hygiene inspection programme in 
accordance with the Food Standards Agency’s recovery plan for LAs. This has seen the team working hard 
to contact and triage all new food businesses that registered during the pandemic as well as prioritising 
inspections of our high risk / non-compliant establishments, and those unable to be inspected during 2020-
21. 

The reduction in Covid-compliance related work has enabled the team to make some real headway with 
these inspections, increasing the percentage of all medium and high risk business inspections due this year 
from 8% in Q1 to 36% in Q2.

The increase in inspections has also resulted in the PI for 'broadly compliant’ food establishments increasing 
notably from 83.2% for Q1 to 91.1% in Q2.  As previously outlined as a likely causative factor for the 
apparent dip during the pandemic, the reason for this is that the report used to capture this figure counts all 
premises not yet inspected as being non-compliant, including newly registered food businesses, which 
resulted in an unusually low figure during the pandemic when premises could not be inspected.

The Senior EHO/Corporate H&S Officer within the Commercial Team has continued to play a key role in 
helping to ensure the health and safety of the council’s workforce as we continue to move towards a new 
normal and welcome more staff back to the offices. The total number of reported H&S accidents indicator is 
dependent upon business compliance with formally reporting accidents to the HSE.  The four incidents 
logged in Q2 does not directly reflect upon officer’s performance, but does serve to give some indication as 
to how safe premises in Gravesham are.

Total number of reported Health & Safety incidents

% of broadly compliant food establishments

0

5

10

15

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 48



P I  5

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 95.0% 98.0% 98.0% 99.0%

2020-21 99.8% 99.0% 97.0% 98.0%

2021-22 98.0% 98.0%

2022-23

2. Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of 
household recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in 
the borough.

Environmental Protection update - Mark Lees

#1 PEOPLE 

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

The Environmental Protection team’s ordinarily busy reactive workload addressing allegations of nuisance 
and handling of other service requests remained elevated during Q2, as it had across the pandemic, with 
311 incoming complaints and enquiries logged, compared to 204 for the same period in 2019.  

The majority of these related to noise, which is generally the largest category of nuisance complaint 
received. This does however reflect a welcome reduction compared to the same period in 2020, when 383 
service requests were received.

In addition, 131 service requests were dealt with by the Commercial Team in Q2, compared to 75 for the 
same period in 2019 which is more representative of the usual Q1 value for that team, whose remit is 
ordinarily, largely taken up with food hygiene inspections and interventions. Again, this reflects a reduction 
compared to the same period in 2020, when some 299 service requests were received by the Commercial 
Team.

Despite the Environmental Health teams collectively processing a further 442 service requests in Q2, they 
continued to provide a first response within five working days in 98% of cases. 

Our air quality strategies are largely progressed via the planning process. The Environmental Protection 
Team respond to all relevant planning applications and the officers play an active part in working groups 
relating to major developments.  

% of environmental health service requests receiving a first response within five working 
days 

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 49



P I  9

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 108.0 212.7 320.0 427.6

2020-21 125.1 240.0 353.0 477.0

2021-22 125.4 250.4

2022-23

P I  8 P I   10

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 44.3% 44.2% 43.0% 42.6% 2019-20 1.9%

2020-21 45.7% 45.3% 44.5% 43.6% 2020-21 1.4%

2021-22 44.3% 45.0% 2021-22

2022-23 2022-23

Waste & Recycling update - Stuart Alford 

#1 PEOPLE 

Annual indicator 

% of household waste recycled

In the period July - September 2021 the total recycling and garden waste tonnages (excluding food waste) collected was 
550 tonnes greater than the period July - September 2020, an increase of 17.5%.  In the same time period, 100% of 
households received their scheduled refuse and recycling collection.

To support our residents to recycle correctly, a system was implemented in early September 2021 to ensure that 
residents receive a letter if their recycling bin is contaminated to educate them about how to recycle correctly. 

Officers continue to engage with the Kent Resource Partnership, RECOUP (a plastics recycling charity) and other Kent 
councils to deliver the Pledge2Recycle Plastics community education programme which will run throughout Kent from 
summer 2021 through to spring 2022. The project aims to minimise confusion about plastics recycling in order to 
minimise contamination and increase plastics recycling.  Representatives from RECOUP arranged a stall at Sainsburys 
at Pepperhill on 28th July to directly engage with residents and to encourage residents to reduce, reuse and recycle 
plastics as much as possible. 

The roll-out of recycling ‘on-the-go’ bins in our parks & open spaces has continued with the installation of litter bins with 
recycling compartments at the Riverside Leisure Area and Woodlands Park to enable park users to recycle their litter 
while on-the-go. 

A project plan is being implemented to deliver recycling ‘on-the-go’ to higher footfall locations across the borough, such 
as at shopping parades, as part of street scene improvements. To date, 156 sacks have been collected for recycling. 

The phased approach to the introduction and enhancement of recycling provision at flats has begun to be implemented.  
Initially, five sheltered schemes comprising of 99 flats, are trialling the new improvements with a further roll-out to begin 
imminently.  The improvements include the introduction of a food waste and dry mixed recycling service in sheltered flats 
without recycling provision.  To support the new improvements, leaflets will be delivered a bin signage will be installed to 
improve understanding of the recycling service available. 

Work continues to be undertaken in conjunction with Housing to ensure that general housing flats have sufficient and 
appropriate waste storage to accommodate both refuse and recycling.  Works at Larkfields, Northfleet have been 
completed with further projects being planned.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

Total volume of residual waste per household (kg)

% of household waste sent to landfill

3. Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of household 
recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in the borough.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

42%

44%

46%

48%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0

200

400

600

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0%

2%

4%

6%

2019-20 2020-21

P
age 50



P I  11

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 2.0 2.1

2020-21 1.2 1.2 2.4 2.4

2021-22 2.6 2.5

2022-23

P I  12

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

2020-21 N/A 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

2021-22 4.0% 4.0%

2022-23

Average time taken to remove graffiti identified as GBC responsibility (days)

% of areas with unacceptable levels of littering

N/A

In the period July - September 2021 the total street litter, fly-tipping and mechanical sweeper tonnages 
collected by Street Cleansing staff was 83 tonnes greater than the July - September 2020 period, an 
increase of 10.5%.  Mechanical sweeper tonnages alone increased by 85% compared to the same period 
the previous year.  

Since the beginning of September 2021, Gravesham’s Street Cleansing Service has offered roles to five 
local people to offer them vital training and work experience as part of the government Kickstart Scheme.  
They have made an important contribution towards delivering a Gravesham to be proud of by helping our 
teams to clear areas of litter and to tidy up rear access ways. 

The Street Champions initiative continues to demonstrate the level of civic pride across the borough and 
that many people take pride in their local area.  Since 1st April 2021, Gravesham’s Street Champions have 
collected 839 sacks of litter. Volunteers have taken part in 76 litter picks in this time period, involving 427 
volunteers.

The parks & open spaces litter bin replacement programme has continued at the Riverside Leisure Area 
and at Woodlands Park with the majority of the works completed.  Works to install large bin housings at 
Camer Park and Woodlands park will begin imminently to increase litter capacity. 

Following on from the previous anti-littering campaigns, rather than the same generic message being used 
across the borough, bespoke campaigns with specific messages for specific locations have been 
developed.  These include Gravesend town centre and parks & open spaces.

To modernise and develop the Street Cleansing service further, the Bartec Street Cleansing module is 
being implemented within our current waste management software system. The system will facilitate better 
monitoring and quality assurance; tablet-based ‘real-time’ working for Street Cleansing Operatives; 
enhanced reporting and data collection, and; an improved ‘feedback loop’ for residents to keep them 
updated at every stage of their enquiry.

We are also preparing to trial litter bin sensor technology which will be used to alert the team when the bins 
requires empting.  The sensors should improve the service and reduce bin emptying visits, making the 
service more efficient and reducing vehicle mileage, thereby reducing carbon emissions.

An MOT facility is being installed alongside the work currently being carried out with Rosherville Servicing 
Ltd.  The service will minimise labour and fuel costs as well as vehicle down time due to having to take 
Street Cleansing vehicles to a local garage for MOT testing. 

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
4. Create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an attractive town centre: a 
comprehensive programme of street cleansing and high standard of horticultural maintenance. 

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

0

1

2

3

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 51



P I   39

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 100%

2020-21 100%

2021-22

2022-23

Annual indicator

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
1. Improve resident well-being: provide and preserve a suite of high quality play areas and 
promote opportunities for active lives.
Cemeteries & Allotments Services have been working with the Waste Management Team and 
Community Pay Back to clear some of the allotments of fly-tipping and overgrowth to enhance the 
amenity space available for use at the allotments.

% of council play sites annually inspected

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

#2 PLACE 

40%

60%

80%

100%

2019-20 2020-21

P
age 52


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Taxi Tariff
	6 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy
	7 Street Champions and Great British Spring Clean Update
	8 Corporate Performance Report: Q2 2021-22
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q2 2021-22 (Appendix 2)
	Q2 2021-22
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q1 2021-22.pdf
	Q1 2021-22






